73699-0 73699-0

FILED

March 18, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I

No. 73699-0-I

State of Washington IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

NICHOLAS LITTLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

A jury convicted Nicholas Little of six counts of first degree child molestation based mostly on the hearsay testimony of three children, which did not satisfy the "reliability" exception. Although the initial complaint (made by two of the children) alleged a grandfather-like figure, living at the location of the maternal grandfather's home, had committed the crimes, the trial court prevented Mr. Little from presenting "other suspect" evidence tending to show that the children's maternal grandfather was connected to the crimes.

Mr. Little did not testify at trial. In the State's closing argument, it called the defense "cagey," and suggested that only Mr. Little knew what had happened. Mr. Little's objections to these improper statements were erroneously overruled. After the jury convicted Mr. Little, he filed a motion for a new trial, explaining that his attorney had prevented him from testifying by instructing him that, because he smelled of alcohol, the court might throw him in jail if he took the stand. For all of these reasons, this Court should reverse.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court violated Mr. Little's constitutional right to present a defense when it erroneously excluded his "other suspect" evidence.
- 2. The trial court erred when it admitted the children's hearsay statements.
- 3. Mr. Little was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorney suggested during his closing argument that the defense was being "cagey" and commented on Mr. Little's decision not to testify at trial.
- 4. The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Little an evidentiary hearing to determine whether his attorney had "actually prevented" him from testifying.
- 5. The trial court erred when it entered Finding of Fact 12. CP 439.
- 6. The trial court erred when it entered Finding of Fact 13. CP 439.
- 7. The trial court erred when it entered Finding of Fact 14. CP 439.

- 8. To the extent it is deemed to be a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 1. CP 439.
- 9. To the extent it is deemed to be a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 2. CP 440.
- 10. To the extent it is deemed to be a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 3. CP 440.
- 11. To the extent it is deemed to be a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 4. CP 440.
- 12. To the extent it is deemed to be a finding of fact, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 5. CP 440.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Pursuant to the Due Process Clause and the Sixth

Amendment, a defendant must be given a meaningful opportunity to

present a complete defense. He is entitled to present evidence of

another suspect where it tends to connect the other person with the

crime. Where the initial report suggested that a grandfather-like figure

had committed the crime and the children's maternal grandfather had

lived with the children for periods of time, did the trial court's

exclusion of this other suspect evidence violate Mr. Little's

constitutional rights and prejudice Mr. Little, requiring reversal?

- 2. Under RCW 9A.44.120, hearsay statements made by young children may be admissible at trial when they are determined to be reliable. The reliability of the statements is assessed according to nine factors articulated in *State v. Ryan*. These factors must be "substantially met" before the hearsay statements may be admitted. The evidence showed the children had an apparent motive to lie, made the claims in response to the CPS worker's leading questions, and that two of the children changed their stories after spending unsupervised time with the other child. Did the court err when it admitted the children's hearsay statements despite the fact that the *Ryan* factors were not substantially met?
- 3. Hearsay statements may be admitted under the medical diagnosis or treatment exception in ER 803(a)(4), but the declarant's motive must have been to promote treatment and the medical professional must have reasonably relied on the statement for purposes of treatment. Where the children's hearsay statements to the forensic nurse examiner were admitted at trial but the children had no incentive to be truthful to the nurse in order to obtain proper care, did the court commit reversible error?

¹ 103 Wn.2d 165, 175-76, 691 P.2d 197 (1984).

- 4. A defendant may be denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorney acts improperly and the defendant is prejudiced. Where the prosecuting attorney improperly suggested the defense was being "cagey" with its words, and later commented on Mr. Little's right to remain silent at trial, must this Court reverse?
- 5. When a defendant presents specific, credible allegations that his attorney actually prevented him from testifying at trial, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine whether his waiver was knowing and voluntary. Where Mr. Little explained his attorney had instructed him that, because he smelled of alcohol, he could be thrown in jail if he testified, did the trial court err in denying his request for a hearing?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nicholas Little met Sherri Kidney through his sister, who attended Bastyr University with Ms. Kidney. 10 RP 59. When Ms. Kidney accompanied the sister on a family vacation to La Push, Mr. Little and Ms. Kidney met and had an immediate connection. 10 RP 60; 16 RP 60. The next year, the two began dating. 10 RP 63.

Ms. Kidney has three children. 10 RP 51. At the time of trial, her oldest daughter, A.M., was 10 and her twin daughters, H.M. and J.M., were 8. 10 RP 51. About a year after they began dating, Ms.

Kidney entered a graduate program at the University of Washington and Mr. Little and Ms. Kidney moved in together in a duplex in West Seattle. 10 RP 70. Mr. Little got along well with Ms. Kidney's daughters and often babysat them while Ms. Kidney was at work or school. 10 RP 72-73. They discussed getting married after Ms. Kidney graduated. 10 RP 83.

Before Mr. Little took an active role in the girls' lives, they attended daycare and Ms. Kidney's father, Alan Kidney, helped out by babysitting. 2 RP 21. When Ms. Kidney graduated from Bastyr, she moved in with her father for several months. 2 RP 25. Later, after Ms. Kidney moved to West Seattle, her father lived with the family for a few weeks, sleeping on one of their living room couches. 2 RP 171.

After Ms. Kidney and her daughters moved in with Mr. Little, the twins were playing a game of "telephone" with a friend, H.B., when they told her that Mr. Little's father had touched them inappropriately. 8 RP 125, 127; 8 RP 72. H.B. told her mother, who contacted Child Protective Services (CPS). 8 RP 72, 76.

The following Monday, a CPS worker, Ana Mejia, arrived at the children's elementary school to interview them. 8 RP 173. In separate

interviews, the twins informed Ms. Mejia that no one had touched them inappropriately. 9 RP 106, 120.

Ms. Mejia then interviewed A.M. 9 RP 34. Ms. Mejia was an inexperienced CPS worker and admitted she was "absolutely overwhelmed" by the situation. 9 RP 167-68. Ms. Mejia asked A.M. if anyone had touched her private parts and A.M. nodded. 9 RP 38. When Ms. Mejia asked who had done this, A.M. shrugged. 9 RP 39. Rather than ask another open-ended question, Ms. Mejia responded to A.M.'s gesture by listing off the names of adults she knew in A.M.'s life. 9 RP 39. When she got to Mr. Little's name, A.M. nodded, and Ms. Mejia stopped offering names. 9 RP 39. Ms. Mejia acknowledged that she would have asked about Alan Kidney, but did not get that far down her list. 9 RP 137. She also did not think to audio record her interviews with the children, despite conceding that this would have been best. 9 RP 110.

A.M. repeated the allegations against Mr. Little to a police officer and the children were removed from the home. 15 RP 66; 9 RP 163. They were placed together, overnight, in a visitation center, and then moved to their maternal grandmother's house the next day. 9 RP 163, 165. Only after the children were alone with each other did H.M.

and J.M. recite allegations matching A.M.'s. 12 RP 118, 149, 187 (interviews with State investigator).

Mr. Little was charged with six counts of first degree child molestation. CP 13. At Mr. Little's trial, the court admitted the children's hearsay statements over Mr. Little's objection. This included oral statements to H.B., Ms. Mejia, the police officer, Ms. Kidney, the State investigator, two nurses, and written statements and a drawing by A.M. 8 RP 113; 10 RP 47, 123; 11 RP 149; 12 RP 118, 149, 187; 14 RP 144; 15 RP 38.

The trial court precluded Mr. Little from presenting evidence tending to suggest that Alan Kidney, the girls' maternal grandfather, had perpetrated the crimes, despite the fact that the initial allegation involved a grandfather-like figure and Mr. Kidney had spent considerable time with the kids, including sleeping on the couch where some of the incidents were alleged to have occurred. 5 RP 112; 2 RP 25, 171.

Mr. Little did not testify at trial. In the State's closing argument, the prosecutor suggested the defense was "cagey" with words and that only Mr. Little could tell the jurors what had happened

between him and A.M. 18 RP 94, 100. Mr. Little objected each time, and the trial court overruled Mr. Little's objections. 18 RP 94, 100.

The jury convicted Mr. Little of the counts as charged. CP 71-76. Mr. Little filed a motion for a new trial, explaining his attorney prevented him from testifying by threatening that, because he smelled of alcohol, the court might throw him in jail if he took the stand. CP 77-78, 188. Despite Mr. Little's representations, the trial court denied Mr. Little an evidentiary hearing to determine whether his counsel had actually prevented him from testifying, thereby rendering ineffective assistance of counsel, and whether Mr. Little was prejudiced by his attorney's actions. CP 440.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Little to an indeterminate sentence of 198 months to life. CP 412.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. When the trial court erroneously excluded Mr. Little's "other suspect" evidence, it violated his constitutional right to present a defense.
 - a. A defendant has a fundamental constitutional right to a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.

"Whether rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment or in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation Clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution guarantees criminal defendants 'a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006) (quoting Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 L.Ed. 636 (1986)). In essence, this is a defendant's "right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (2010); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22.

A defendant's right to an opportunity to be heard in his defense, including the right to offer testimony, "is basic in our system of jurisprudence." *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. In order for the jury to decide "where the truth lies," a defendant must be given the opportunity to present his version of the facts. *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967).

This right is, of course, not absolute. Courts are constitutionally permitted "to exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by certain other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or potential to mislead the jury." *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014) (quoting *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 326-27). And "the exclusion of other suspect evidence is a 'specific application' of [this]

general rule." *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 378 (quoting *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 326-27).

b. The trial court improperly excluded other suspect evidence about the children's maternal grandfather.

The State moved to exclude all other suspect evidence, including any evidence about Alan Kidney, the children's maternal grandfather. 5 RP 70. The trial court granted the State's motion, relying on *Franklin*. 5 RP 112.

This ruling was made in error. "The standard for relevance of other suspect evidence is whether there is evidence 'tending to connect' someone other than the defendant with the crime." *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 381 (quoting *State v. Downs*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 667, 13 P.2d 1 (1932)). The *Downs* test merely requires that "some combination of facts or circumstances must point to a nonspeculative link between the other suspect and the charged crime." *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 381.

While the State claimed nothing could be said other than Mr. Kidney was "around the children on occasion," the defense's offer of proof demonstrated this was incorrect. 5 RP 78. First, Mr. Kidney was not simply in proximity to the children "on occasion." Ms. Kidney and the children lived with Mr. Kidney for several months, from August 2011 to February 2012, in his home in Tacoma. 2 RP 25. After Mr.

Kidney lost his home, he stayed with Ms. Kidney, Mr. Little, and the girls for two to three weeks. 2 RP 171. While in the West Seattle house, he slept on the couch in the living room, where the girls claimed several of the acts of touching took place. 2 RP 171. He also babysat the girls alone during that time. 2 RP 171.

When the twins made the initial allegation to their friend, they reported that it was Mr. Little's father, a grandfather-like figure, who had touched them inappropriately. 8 RP 72. However, when the friend's mother relayed the twins' accusations to CPS, she reported the "boyfriend's father lives about a mile from the family in the Alki Beach area off of Admiral Way." 5 RP 80. This information actually described where Mr. Kidney lived, not where Mr. Little's father lived. 5 RP 82. And although A.M. later identified Mr. Little, rather than Mr. Little's father or Mr. Kidney, she did so only in response to a series of leading questions from the CPS worker. 4 RP 63.

In *State v. Maupin*, our supreme court held a trial court's failure to admit evidence that a kidnapping victim was observed with someone other than the defendant after the kidnapping violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 rights. 128 Wn.2d 918, 924-28, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). The court determined this evidence was both

relevant and sufficiently probative to satisfy *Downs*. *Id*. at 928. In *Franklin*, the court explained that in addition to the type of other suspect evidence presented in *Maupin*, "motive, ability, opportunity, and/or character evidence" could establish a sufficient connection in other cases. 180 Wn.2d at 381. As long as some fact or circumstances pointed to a nonspeculative link, the evidence should be admitted. *Id*.

Here, Mr. Kidney had the opportunity to commit the alleged crime *and* the initial report to CPS indicated that a grandfather-like figure, who was described to live precisely where Mr. Kidney lives, committed the offense. Combined, this evidence presented more than simply a speculative link. The trial court erred when it granted the State's motion to exclude other suspect evidence as it related to Alan Kidney.

c. Reversal is required.

Because the court's error directly affected Mr. Little's constitutional right to present evidence on his own behalf, the State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 382. Thus, this Court may find the error harmless only if it "cannot reasonably doubt that the jury would

have arrived at the same verdict in its absence." *Id.* at 383 (citing *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 724.

The State cannot meet this burden because the children's stories repeatedly changed. The twins initially suggested Mr. Little's father committed the crime, and then later told CPS no crime had occurred. 8 RP 72; 4 RP 31, 56. A.M. identified Nick as the individual who touched them, but the twins only adopted this story after spending time alone with A.M. 4 RP 63. Given these conflicting accounts, if the defense had been permitted to point to Alan Kidney as an alternative suspect, the jury may have reached a different verdict. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

- 2. The trial court committed reversible error when it admitted hearsay statements made by A.M., H.M., and J.M.
 - a. A child's hearsay statements are admissible under RCW 9A.44.120 only when they are reliable.

The State relied primarily on the children's hearsay statements to present its case-in-chief. Out-of-court statements made by young children may be admissible at trial under RCW 9A.44.120, but only in specific circumstances and only when the statements are determined to be reliable. *State v. Ryan*, 103 Wn.2d 165, 177, 691 P.2d 197 (1984). Pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120,

A statement made by a child when under the age of ten describing any act of sexual contact performed with or on the child by another, describing any attempted act of sexual contact with or on the child by another, or describing any act of physical abuse of the child by another that results in substantial bodily harm... is admissible in evidence in... criminal proceedings, including juvenile offense adjudications, in the court of the state of Washington if:

- (1) The court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability; and
- (2) The child either:
- (a) Testifies at the proceedings; or
- (b) Is unavailable as a witness.

In order to assess the reliability of child hearsay statements, the trial court must consider nine factors: (1) whether there is an apparent motive to lie; (2) the general character of the declarant; (3) whether more than one person heard the statements; (4) the spontaneity of the statements; (5) the timing of the declaration and the relationship between the declarant and the witness; (6) whether the statement contained express assertions of past fact; (7) whether the declarant's lack of knowledge could be established through cross-examination; (8) the remoteness of the possibility of the declarant's recollection being faulty; and (9) whether the surrounding circumstances suggested the

declarant misrepresented the defendant's involvement. *Ryan*, 103 Wn.2d at 175-76.

No single factor, taken alone, is decisive. *State v. Kennealy*, 151 Wn. App. 861, 881, 214 P.3d 200 (2009). However, "the factors must be 'substantially met' before a statement is demonstrated to be reliable." *Id.* A trial court's decision to admit child hearsay statements is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Woods*, 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005).

b. The children's hearsay statements were not admissible under the "reliability" exception.

Over Mr. Little's objection, the trial court permitted several witnesses to testify to the children's accusatory out-of-court statements. Officer William Askew (a Seattle police officer), Sherri Kidney (the children's mother), and H.B. (an eight-year-old neighbor) testified to statements made by A.M., H.M., and J.M.² 8 RP 113; 10 RP 47; 15 RP 38. It also admitted a drawing and written statements made by A.M. and shared with Ms. Kidney. 10 RP 123. In addition, the court admitted the children's recorded statements to a child interview specialist, Carolyn Webster. 12 RP 118, 149, 187. Without the

 $^{^2}$ Ana Mejia, a CPS worker, also testified to the children's out-of-court statements, but Mr. Little did not contest this hearsay. 5 RP 130, 133.

recorded statements to Carolyn Webster, the State could not have proven all six counts against Mr. Little.

When the court found these hearsay statements admissible under the *Ryan* factors, it erred. First, as to the statements made to H.B., it is impossible to determine whether the statements made by the twins were reliable because it is unclear which twin made which statement. 3 RP 162. The plain language of RCW 9A.44.120 requires the statement be made by "a child." *State v. Larson*, __ Wn.2d __, 2015 WL 9360073 at *2 (No. 91457-5, December 24, 2015) (to determine the meaning and scope of a statute, a court must look first to its plain language). If the child cannot be identified, the analysis cannot be conducted. Second, consideration of the *Ryan* factors as to the other three witnesses reveals that the factors were not substantially met here.

i. Apparent Motive to Lie

In its oral ruling, the trial court found the children had no motive to lie because the evidence showed they liked Mr. Little and feared their mother would be upset, or they would be in trouble, if they told anyone. 7 RP 37-38. When examining this factor, "[t]he critical inquiry is whether the child was being truthful at the time the hearsay

statements were made." *State v. Gribble*, 60 Wn. App. 374, 383, 804 P.2d 634 (1991).

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