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

her obtaining information from the children she examines:

The history that I obtain from kids is gained so that I can
help make good decisions about medical care for them, so
that I can find out whether or not they've been exposed to
any body fluids or diseases and make sure that that gets
treated appropriately.

11RP 146.

Newman-Skomski testified that during her examination of A.M.,

the girl said that her "mom's ex-boyfriend Nick" had touched the private

areas of her body both over and under her clothes; that he had made her

touch his private areas; that she had seen something come out of his

private area; and that he tried to put his private part in her "butt hole"

while they were in La Push and that it had "really hurt." 11RP 154-55.

Although A.M. demonstrated at~iety, Ms. Newman-Skomski was able to

complete the genital examination. 11RP 157. The exam was

"nonspecific," meaning there were no physical findings of injuries or

trauma. 11RP 158.

4 In this context, a "GU exam" likely refers to a genitourinary exam.
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During Newman-Skomski's examination of H.M., the twin denied

that anyone had ever touched her private parts. 11 RP 163. Otherwise

talkative during the examination, H.M. resorted to body language when

she was asked questions about the private areas of her body. 11RP 163.

Newman-Skomski completed the genital exam of H.M., which was

nonspecific. 11RP 164.

During Newman-Skomski's examination of J.M., the child told her

that Nick had been pulling down her pants and touching her with his

private part, and that it hurt, and she had seen something come out of his

private part. 11RP 166-67. J.M.'s genital exam was also nonspecific.

11RP 169.

Newman-Skomski testified that the reason she asks the question

"Did you see anything come out of his private part?" is to determine

whether a child is exposed to bodily fluids because of the risk of sexually

transmitted diseases. llRP 167-68. In addition to the genital

examinations, urine specimens were collected from each of the girls for

laboratory assessment for STDs. Pretrial Exs. 2, 4, 6.

b. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By
Admitting The Hearsay Statements Of The Children
To The Sexual Assault Nurses.

An out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter

asserted is admissible at trial if it is a statement "made for purposes of
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medical diagnosis or treatment." ER 803(a)(4). The medical treatment

exception applies to statements reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or

treatment. State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 602, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). A

trial court's admission of testimony pursuant to this exception is reviewed

under an abuse of discretion standard. Id.

At trial, Little did not contest that the statements made by the girls

to the nurse at the initial emergency room examinations met the hearsay

exception for medical diagnosis and treatment, he argued only that the

follow-up examinations were in fact second exams that were conducted

not for medical purposes but to gather evidence. 1RP 20-22. To the

extent that Little is now attempting to raise an issue with the trial court's

admission of the children's statements to initial nurse examiner Moore at

the emergency room, this Court should not allow it. RAP 2.5; State v.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 Pad 125 (2007) (appellate courts

generally will not consider issue raised for the first time on appeal.).

Regarding the statements the children made to Newman-Skomski

at Providence Intervention Center, the trial court found that those

statements were made as part of a bifurcated medical examination and

were admissible under the exception. 11RP 106. Little's argument that

"the children were referred to the second nurse not to address any

unresolved medical issues but purely to gather evidence for the State," is
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factually unsupported. BOA at 26. The record establishes that none of the

girls had been able to complete the genital examination at the emergency

room and, therefore, were referred to Providence Intervention Center to

complete that key aspect of the medical examination. The purpose of the

exams was to determine whether any of the girls had sustained injury or

been infected with sexually transmitted diseases.

Authorities that support the trial court's admission of the hearsay

evidence are numerous, including several involving statements made by

child victims of sexual assault. In State v. Bishop, 63 Wn. App. 15, 24,

816 P.2d 738 (1991), this Court, in a case involving the rape of a nine-

year-old, upheld the admission of the victim's statements about

penetration to a physician. In State v. Fitz e~ rald, 39 Wn. App. 652, 658,

694 P.2d 1117 (1985), a prosecution for statutory rape, this Court held that

the State's expert witness, a physician, had properly been allowed to

testify as to what the child had told her about the incident. Other courts

have reached the same conclusion, upholding the admission of the

testimony in In re Penelope B., 104 Wn.2d 643, 655-56, 709 P.2d 1185

(1985) (child's statements made to child psychiatrist as to alleged acts of

sexual contact between the child and her father admissible under ER

803(a)(4)); and in State v. Butler, 53 Wn. App. 214, 766 P.2d 505, review

denie 112 Wn.2d 1014 (1989) (child's statements made to medical
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personnel describing father's abusive acts were pertinent to physician's

treatment for child's physical and emotional injuries and therefore

admissible under ER 803(a)(4)).

Little also argues that the children's statements should have been

ruled inadmissible because "the State failed to establish the children had

an incentive to be truthful in order to obtain appropriate medical care,"

since the children had not sought medical assistance and "the children

reported no complaints upon their initial examination and resisted the

physical exam." BOA at 26. This argument is also without merit. The

record establishes that the children were taken for the genital examinations

for the purposes of diagnosing potential injuries or possible exposure to

sexually transmitted diseases. Whether the children subjectively believed

they needed medical assistance is immaterial. In State v. Williams, 137

Wn. App. 736, 746, 154 P.3d 322'(2007), the admission of statements

made by an 18-year-old rape victim to a nurse was upheld even though the

victim testified that when she was taken to the emergency room it was for

the purpose of evidence collection and that she didn't believe she needed

any specific medical treatment. The statements were admissible because

the victim underwent the medical examination for "a combination of

purposes —medical as well as forensic." Id.
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The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the

children's statements to the nurses who conducted their examinations.

4. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE
PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN ITS REBUTTAL
CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Little claims that the prosecutor twice committed misconduct in

closing argument. But both instances occurred in the rebuttal closing and

the prosecutor, who has leeway in responding to defense arguments, did

not overstep his bounds. If any misconduct occurred, it was harmless

under the circumstances of the case.

a. The Prosecutor Did Not Impugn The Integrity Of
Defense Counsel By Using The Word "Cagey"
When Rebutting A Defense Argument.

The United States and Washington Constitutions guarantee every

defendant a fair trial. U.S. Co1vsT. amend. V, VI; WA CoNST. art. I, § 3.

A defendant who claims on appeal that prosecutorial error or misconduct

deprived him of a fair trial bears the burden of establishing that the

conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d

727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). In the context of closing arguments, the

prosecuting attorney has "wide latitude in making arguments to the jury

and prosecutors are allowed to draw reasonable inferences from the

evidence." Id. Appellate courts evaluate allegedly improper comments

"within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the
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case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions."

State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

Here, Little alleges that the prosecutor committed misconduct by

using the word "cagey" in describing a defense argument. During his

rebuttal the prosecutor argued:

And the same principles about human memory and
about feeling comfortable when you're talking to people
and the content and the circumstances when you're being
asked questions, all attribute to changing memories, little
details here and there. That's human nature.

The Defense, make no mistake about it, is cagey with
the words, but they're trying to essentially assassinate --

MR. COHEN: Objection, Your Honor.
MR. GAUEN: -- [A.M.]'s character.
JUDGE BRADSHAW: The objection is overruled,

but the jurors are reminded to be the determiners of
evidence in accordance with the Court's instructions on the
law. Please continue.

MR. GAUEN: Just because she's chatty or had
emotional problems, because she's been to therapy or what-
have-you, I don't know that she would make this stuff up.

18RP 100 (emphasis added).

Little argues that the use of "cagey" impugned the role of defense

counsel, and likens the situation to State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438,

258 P.3d 43 (2011). The comparison is not appropriate. In Thorgerson,

the prosecutor "impugned defense counsel's integrity, particularly in

referring to the presentation of his case as ̀ bogus' and involving ̀ sleight

of hand. "' Id. at 451-52. Because the "sleight of hand" argument was
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planned in advance, the Thor eg rson court concluded it was flagrant and

ill-intentioned conduct. Id. at 452. Here we have a prosecutor's single use

of a word that is far less inflanunatory than the two phrases used in

Thorgerson, and no evidence that the prosecutor planned the usage in

advance. Whereas both "bogus" and "sleight of hand" inarguably suggest

fraud, sham, and trickery, a single use of "cagey" is far less derogatory.

"Cagey" is defined as: (1) Hesitant about committing oneself, (2)(a) wary

of being trapped or deceived: shrewd, and (2)(b) marked by cleverness.

Merriam-Webster.com, Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. 19 May 2016.

Moreover, the prosecutor's use of "cagey" occurred in rebuttal

closing in response to a defense argument. Our supreme court has upheld

the use of far more pejorative words in response to defense closing

arguments. In State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 567, 940 P.2d 546 (1997),

the supreme court held that a prosecutor in a murder case had not

committed misconduct in rebuttal closing argument by referring to a

defense theory as "ludicrous." The prosecutor was responding to a

defense argument that the victim had been asleep and not aware of the

defendant's plan to eliminate witnesses. Id. The supreme court held:

The prosecutor's characterization of the defense theory as
"ludicrous" was reasonable in light of the evidence.
Appellant admitted raping and torturing Ms. Washa over a
prolonged period of time. It was the prosecution's
contention that, under those circumstances, she was not
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Id.

likely asleep while Appellant was anywhere nearby. The
use of the word "ludicrous" was simply editorial comment
by the prosecuting attorney which was a strong, but fair,
response to the argument made b~~ the defense.

Here, the prosecutor was rebutting a defense closing argument in

which Little's attorney repeatedly stated that he was not saying that the

children were lying. For example, he argued:

Now, nobody is saying that the children were lying. That's
not it. They're lovely children. [A.M.] maybe a little less
so, or maybe different. Maybe we use the word "different."
[A.M.] has challenges.

18RP 84-85. And: "What I said is that this is not a situation where

someone is saying, ̀ Oh, the children are lying."' 18RP 87. Little's

attorney went on to focus on A.M., who had received therapy for ar~iety:

,,~

[A.M.] is a handful. [A.M.] is -- whether she's looking for
attention, she certainly enjoys or has enjoyed —there's
something about the limelight. There's something that's
going on with [A.M.], and it becomes a little troubling
sometimes.

In the context of rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor's

spontaneous use of the word "cagey" in response to the defense closing

argument was not misconduct. Defense counsel sought to explain away

the testimony of three child victims, while somehow assuring the jury that

he wasn't accusing the children of lying, by focusing on the fact that one
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of the girls had received therapy. Here, the prosecutor's use of "cagey"

was consistent with the definition "noncommittal and shrewd," which does

not disparage the defense in the manner of "bogus" and "sleight of hand."

b. The Prosecutor Did Not Refer To The Defendant's
Right Not To Testify, But If He Did The Reference
Was Indirect And Was Harmless Error.

Little's second assertion of prosecutorial misconduct involves what

he characterizes as the prosecutor's comment on Little's exercise of his

right not to testify. The Fifth Amendment bars the prosecution from

commenting on a defendant's failure to testify. Griffin v. California, 380

U.S. 609, 609-15, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965). In order to

assess whether a prosecutor's statement impermissibly comments on the

defendant's silence, this Court must consider "whether the prosecutor

manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment" on the defendant's

exercise of his right not to testify and whether the jury would "naturally

and necessarily" interpret the statement as such. State v. Barrv, 183

Wn.2d 297, 306-07, 352 P.3d 161 (2015) (internal quotations and citations

omitted); State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 331, 804 P.2d 10 (1991). The

prosecutor's remark must be considered "in the context of the total

argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument,

and the instructions given to the jury." Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 561.
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In his closing argument, Little's attorney focused on Little's

alleged molestation of A.M. in the bedroom of the rented cabin in

La Push. The defense had called witnesses who were present that

weekend, including Little's mother, sister, and cousin, who testified that

they had been in and out of the cabin several dines during the approximate

timeframe of the alleged molestation. 18RP 83-84. Little's attorney

argued that it made no sense that Little ~~ould Dave molested a child in the

cabal with so many people coming and going. Id.

In rebuttal, the prosecutor responded to the argument:

By no means were these family members and
friends and such lying about the timing of events in
La Push. They simply had no way of remembering
whether [A.M.] left that fire for a short slice of time.
We're talking about ten to twenty minutes, folks. The
reality is that only the Defendant and [A.M.] knew what
happened behind that closed bedroom door --

MR. COHEN: Objection, Your Honor.
J[JDGE BRADSHAW: Overruled.
MR. GAUEN: -- when [A.M.] walked up the path

to go use the restroom.

18RP 94. In the context of the argument by the defense and the State's

rebuttal, it cannot be said that the prosecutor "manifestly intended" his

remark to be a comment on the defendant's exercise of his right not to

testify, or that the jury would "naturally and necessarily" interpret the

statement as such. The thrust of the prosecutor's argument was that it was

impossible for Little's witnesses, who were in and out of the common area
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of the cabin, to know what happened in the locked bedroom. It is likely

that the jury viewed the remark in that way.

State v. Scott, 93 Wn.2d 7, 13, 604 P.2d 943 (1980), is illustrative.

In that case, a trial of three codefendants, the supreme court held that it

was not prosecutorial misconduct as alleged by the two non-testifying

codefendants for the prosecutor to have said in closing argument: "The

only defendant we heard from was Mr. Benson, Mr. Baker's client." The

court held that in the context of addressing a defense argument based on

defendant Benson's testimony, "the words used were not intended as a

comment on the failure of Scatt and Sample to testify, and could not

reasonably be so understood by the jury." Id.

Even assuming the remark was improper, reversal is unwarranted.

Although Little contends that the remark was a presumptively prejudicial

"constitutional error" that the State must prove harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt, he is mistaken. Only when the prosecutor directly

comments on a defendant's failure to testify does it violate the Fifth

Amendment and becomes subject to the stricter standard of constitutional

harmless error. Emerv, 174 Wn.2d at 757 (citing State v. Easter, 130

Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996)). Here, the prosecutor's fleeting

reference to the defendant's failure to testify, if it occurred at all, was

indirect, and the more forgiving harmless error standard should be applied.
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But under either standard, reversal is unwarranted. The issue being argued

when the prosecutor made the reference was whether the State had proven

Little committed a molestation of A.M. in La Push, Washington, which

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